FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
11/6/2023 3:13 PM
No. 102538-6

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/6/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 38842-5-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EARNEST L. RAAB, D.C., d/b/a SUCCESS TO SIGNIFICANCE LLC, a Washington LLC; MICHAEL ULRICK; LARRY C. WIEBER and ROSE WIEBER, d/b/a TEST FOR NUTRITION OF WASHINGTON, LLC, a Washington LLC; MAX and DEBRA ROBBINS; TONI RAGSDALE, d/b/a RAGSDALE & COMPANY LLC, an Oklahoma LLC; WAYNE MATECKI, LAC and AMY L. MATECKI, M.D., d/b/a DRAMY'S INTEGRATIVE MEDICINE, INC., a California corporation Plaintiffs-Respondents,

VS.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Nu Skin Enterprises, Inc. markets beauty and nutritional products in the United States and across the world through a direct-sales, multi-level marketing network of independent contractors who act as Nu Skin distributors. Nu Skin Enterprises, Inc. indirectly owns and controls Defendant-Petitioner Pharmanex, LLC (Nu Skin Enterprises, Inc. and Pharmanex, LLC are collectively referred to herein as "Nu Skin").

II. DECISION

Division III of the Court of Appeals filed its published opinion on October 5, 2023. A copy of that decision is in the Appendix at pages 1 through 53.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This petition presents four issues.

The first is whether Division III erred by holding that a party can avoid a presumptively valid forum-selection clause by challenging the enforceability of other provisions of the contract.

The second is whether Division III erred by holding that a party can raise challenges, for the first time on appeal, to the enforceability of other provisions of the contract as a means of avoiding a forumselection clause.

The third is whether in the context of a motion to enforce a forum-selection clause, a trial court can re-direct the parties' litigation choices and decide questions of arbitrability.

Finally, the fourth is whether Division III should have decided issues that were not addressed in the first instance by the trial court and were not briefed by the parties on appeal.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs—nine individuals from the various states of Washington, Utah, California, and Oklahoma—signed up to be Nu Skin distributors. CP 28-29, 86-87. In doing so, each of them agreed to Distributor Agreements that governed their relationship with Nu Skin. CP 86-87. The Distributor Agreements required all "Disputes" between Plaintiffs and Nu Skin to be resolved by arbitration in Utah: "UTAH WILL BE THE EXCLUSIVE VENUE FOR ARBITRATION

OR ANY OTHER RESOLUTION OF ANY DISPUTES ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO THIS CONTRACT." CP 87. The Distributor Agreements further specified that "[t]he exclusive venue for any and all Disputes will be in Salt Lake County, Utah" and that the parties waived any objection to improper venue. *Id*.

The Distributor Agreements defined "Dispute" in the broadest possible terms:

[A]ny and all past, present, or future claims, disputes, causes of action or complaints, whether based in contract, tort, statute, law, product liability, equity, or any other cause of action,

- (i) arising under or related to this Contract,
- (ii) between other Distributors and me arising out of or related to a Distributorship, or our business relationship as independent contractors of Nu Skin,
- (iii) between Nu Skin and me,
- (iv) related to Nu Skin or its past or present affiliated entities, their owners, directors, officers, employees, investors or vendors,
- (v) related to the Nu Skin Products,
- (vi) regarding Nu Skin's resolution of any other matter that impacts my Distributorship, or that arises out of or is related to the Company's business, including my disagreement with Nu Skin's disciplinary actions or interpretations of the Contract.

CP 87-88.

The Distributor Agreements also incorporated Nu Skin's Policies and Procedures as part of the parties' "Contract." CP 88. The Policies and Procedures contained another standalone forum-selection clause, reiterating that Utah is the exclusive venue for the resolution of any Disputes—whether they are arbitrated or not:

Utah will be the exclusive venue for arbitration or any other resolution of any Disputes. The place of origin of the Contract is the State of Utah, USA, and the Contract will be governed by, construed in accordance with, and interpreted pursuant to the laws of the State of Utah, USA, without giving effect to its rules regarding choice of laws. The exclusive venue for any and all Disputes, including the validity of provisions regarding arbitration, place of venue, and jurisdiction, will be in Salt Lake County, Utah. You consent to the personal jurisdiction of any court within the State of Utah and waive any objection to improper venue.

CP 155.

After Plaintiffs became unhappy with their business relationship with Nu Skin, they disregarded their Distributor Agreements and sued Nu Skin and a number of other Nu Skin distributors in Spokane County. CP 23-63. Plaintiffs' claims are based on their purported dissatisfaction with Nu Skin, complaints about Nu Skin's business model, and various

alleged misrepresentations that they contend were made to them by other Nu Skin distributors for which they seek to hold Nu Skin liable.

Nu Skin took a two-track path to compel Plaintiffs to abide by their contractual obligations and to avoid waiving its right to arbitrate:

First, Nu Skin filed a petition to compel arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") in the United States District Court for the District of Utah. CP 65. Nu Skin filed its petition to compel arbitration in Utah pursuant to the parties' agreements (which require that disputes about the validity of provisions regarding "arbitration, place of venue, and jurisdiction" be resolved in Utah) and the FAA (which requires petitions to compel arbitration to be brought in the place where the arbitration will take place). See 9 U.S.C. § 4; see also, e.g., Image Software, Inc. v. Reynolds & Reynolds, Co., 459 F.3d 1044, 1052–55 (10th Cir. 2006). Plaintiffs opposed this petition, arguing, among other things, that the arbitration clause is unconscionable and should not be enforced.

Second, Nu Skin asked the trial court in Washington to dismiss Plaintiffs' Complaint based on the forum-selection clause in the parties'

agreements or, alternatively, to stay the case pending the resolution of Nu Skin's petition to compel arbitration. CP 193-222. Plaintiffs opposed that motion, arguing that their Complaint was not a "Dispute", and that the forum-selection clause was unenforceable because it deprived them of their rights under the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"). CP 229-244.

On March 7, 2022, the trial court denied Nu Skin's motion in its entirety, adopting most of Plaintiffs' proposed order:

The Court concludes, on the basis of the foregoing and having heard arguments of counsel, that this Court is the proper venue for this case based on Washington's strong public policy interests in deciding cases brought under its own consumer protection laws, including Washington's Antipyramid Promotional Scheme Act, and/or because the Utah forum would deprive Plaintiffs of a reasonable remedy in this case. Alternatively, The arbitration agreement is inapplicable to the present matter because this is not a "Dispute" within the meaning of the Contract. Furthermore, this case can coexist while the Utah Federal Court decides the Petition to Compel Arbitration before it and discovery can proceed.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that the Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to Washington Civil Rules 12(b)(3) or, in the Alternative, Motion to Stay (and Joinder by Bennett Defendants) is DENIED.

CP 343-345.

Nu Skin sought discretionary review. While Nu Skin's motion for discretionary review was pending, the Utah court dismissed Nu

Skin's petition to compel arbitration based on the preclusive impact of the trial court's holding that Plaintiffs' claims were not a "Dispute." *See Nu Skin Enters., Inc. v. Raab*, No. 2:21-CV-00709-RJS-CMR, 2022 WL 2118223, at *10 (D. Utah June 13, 2022).

Division III ultimately granted Nu Skin's motion for discretionary review. In deciding the appeal, Division III reversed the trial court's determination that Plaintiffs' Complaint was not a "Dispute," finding that the claims asserted by Plaintiffs fell squarely within the definition of that term. App. 29-30. Division III nonetheless The panel determined that remanded for further proceedings. Plaintiffs' arguments (raised for the first time on appeal) that certain provisions that could govern a potential arbitration with Nu Skin were unconscionable "could be" relevant to whether the forum-selection clause was enforceable and instructed the trial court to consider those arguments. App. 35-38, 51-52. The panel did so despite the forumselection clause's plain directive that any arguments relating to the enforceability of the contract's arbitration provisions were to be decided in Utah.

V. ARGUMENT FOR GRANTING REVIEW

This Court should review Division III's decision. By holding that the enforceability of unrelated contractual terms could be relevant to the enforceability of a forum-selection clause, Division III created new law. In doing so, Division III also split with this Court's decisions and with decisions from other divisions of the Court of Appeals. Division III also departed from this Court's long-settled authority holding that appellate courts should not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal, should not refashion the parties' litigation choices, and should not address arguments on appeal that were not advanced by either party.

Review is therefore appropriate because Division III's decision "conflict[s] with [] decision[s] of the Supreme Court," "conflict[s] with [] published decision[s] of the Court of Appeals," and "involve[s] an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b). This Court has previously granted petitions for review affecting the issues presented here. *See, e.g., Oltman v. Holland Am. Line USA, Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d 1001 (2007)

(granting review of a Court of Appeals' decision concerning application of forum-selection clause); *Dalton M, LLC v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, 200 Wn.2d 1016 (2022) (granting review of a petition that argued, *inter alia*, that the Court of Appeals made factual findings *sua sponte*). This Court should now do the same.

A. Division III Departed from this Court's Well-Settled Analysis Governing the Enforcement of Forum-Selection Clauses

Forum-selection clauses are presumptively valid. See W. Consultants, Inc. v. Davis, 177 Wn. App. 33, 41, 310 P.3d 824, 828 (2013). That holds even if the forum-selection clause is found in "a standard form consumer contract not subject to negotiation." Id. (quoting Dix v. ICT Grp., Inc., 160 Wn.2d 826, 834, 161 P.3d 1016, 1020 (2007)). The party seeking to avoid a forum-selection clause must therefore show that its enforcement would be unreasonable. Id.

Before the trial court, Plaintiffs argued that the forum-selection clause in their agreements with Nu Skin was unenforceable (1) because their claims against Nu Skin were not a "Dispute," and (2) because the forum-selection clause impaired their ability to pursue their CPA

claims. On appeal, Plaintiffs switched tracks. They relegated their argument that the forum-selection clause impaired their ability to assert CPA claims to an afterthought, likely because they realized that it was a non-starter—indeed, Division III did not discuss that argument. *See* App. 30. In its place, Plaintiffs argued for the first time on appeal that several of the procedures that would govern a potential arbitration with Nu Skin were unconscionable. Plaintiffs targeted provisions relating to the confidentiality of the arbitration, the alleged lack of mutuality of the arbitration agreement, their recoverable damages, an alleged statute of limitations, and severability.

Division III should not have considered those arguments. The inquiry should have stopped once Division III determined that Plaintiffs' claims were a "Dispute." At that point, it was clear that Plaintiffs' claims fell under the terms of the forum-selection clause. But Division III nonetheless went on to hold—without citing a single case—that Plaintiffs' unconscionability arguments "could be" relevant to the forum-selection clause's enforceability. App. 51-52. That was error. The panel should not have reached those arguments because

Plaintiffs did not raise them with the trial court below and because they are irrelevant to whether enforcing the forum-selection clause would be unreasonable.

1. Plaintiffs Did Not Raise Unconscionability Arguments in the Trial Court

An appellate court should not consider arguments that were not raised in the trial court. See Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc., 146 Wn.2d 841, 853, 50 P.3d 256, 262 (2002) (declining to consider federal preemption arguments that were raised for the first time on appeal); Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Ctr., 117 Wn.2d 772, 780, 819 P.2d 370, 374 (1991). Plaintiffs did not raise any arguments about the arbitration agreement's alleged unconscionability before the trial court. The word "unconscionable" was not mentioned once in their opposition to Nu Skin's motion to dismiss. See CP 233-42. Nor was it mentioned during oral argument before the trial court on that motion. See generally Verbatim Report of Proceedings.

Still, Division III said that in opposition to Nu Skin's motion to dismiss, Plaintiffs "argued that a number of the provisions of the contract were procedurally or substantively unconscionable." App. 9.

In making this leap, the panel cited the fact that Plaintiffs supposedly incorporated their federal briefing into "their opposition to the motion to dismiss." App. 36. Plaintiffs' opposition said that although they would "repeat relevant arguments herein," they "encourage[d]" the trial court to refer to their briefing before the Utah court relating to Nu Skin's petition to compel arbitration. CP 231.

Plaintiffs did not repeat their unconscionability arguments in their briefing before the trial court. And that supposed "incorporation by reference" did not preserve them. A party cannot incorporate arguments made in briefing from a different proceeding and sidestep the applicable page limitations in the process. *See e.g.*, *State v. Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d 161, 180, 225 P.3d 973 (2010) (an "argument incorporated by reference to other briefing is not properly before this court").

The proper approach is for a party to set forth its entire argument on the merits in the body of the brief. *See State v. I.N.A.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 422, 426, 446 P.3d 175, 177 (2019). Plaintiffs, however, made the strategic decision to avoid unconscionability in favor of other arguments. Division III did not explain why Plaintiffs were not stuck

with that choice or why Plaintiffs were ultimately allowed to raise new arguments on appeal. Division III therefore should not have considered Plaintiffs' unconscionability arguments. *See Zuver v. Airtouch Comme'ns, Inc.*, 153 Wn.2d 293, 321, 103 P.3d 753, 769 (2004) (declining to consider challenges to an arbitration agreement that were not presented to trial court).¹

2. The Validity of Other Contractual Provisions Does Not Impact the Validity of the Forum-Selection Clause

After ruling that Plaintiffs' claims against Nu Skin were a "Dispute," App. 29-30, and after finding that Plaintiffs all but abandoned their argument that the forum-selection clause impaired their ability to assert their CPA claims, App. 30, Division III should have enforced the forum-selection clause. Instead, however, Division

¹ In their Utah briefing, Plaintiffs did not make the unconscionability arguments that they pressed on appeal in Washington. Before the Utah court, Plaintiffs challenged one provision of the arbitration agreement as substantively unconscionable (the damages limitation). There was no mention of the any supposed lack of mutuality, the confidentiality provision, the alleged statute of limitations, or the severability provision. CP 251-259, 261-276. Even if Plaintiffs could incorporate arguments that they made in a different litigation, they did not raise the arguments that they made before Division III in the Utah proceeding.

III determined that Plaintiffs' arguments about the contours of a potential arbitration were relevant to the only question before it: whether Plaintiffs carried their heavy burden of showing that *the forum-selection clause* was unenforceable. Division III therefore remanded the case to the trial court for consideration of those issues.

As Division III saw it, "[u]nconscionability [was] a 'gateway dispute' that courts must resolve because a party cannot be required to fulfill a bargain that should be voided." App. 34 (quoting Hill v. Garda CL Nw., Inc., 179 Wn.2d 47, 54, 308 P.3d 635, 638 (2013)). But the panel took much too broad a view. Hill and (Zuver, which Hill cited for the same proposition) were cases that considered whether an arbitration agreement within a contract was unconscionable in deciding whether to enforce that same arbitration agreement. That analysis was appropriate in those cases because "the validity of the arbitration agreement itself [was] at issue." McKee v. AT & T Corp., 164 Wn.2d 372, 394, 191 P.3d 845, 856 (2008) (citing Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna, 546 U.S. 440, 449 (2006)), abrogated on other grounds by AT & T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion, 563 U.S. 333 (2011). Put differently, the unconscionability arguments were limited; they were aimed "only and specifically" at the arbitration agreement—the same provision that the Court was being asked to enforce. *Id.*

That limitation applies to forum-selection clauses. This Court's prior pronouncements make that clear. Following the United States Supreme Court's lead, this Court has held that forum-selection clauses are "presumptively valid" and that the party seeking to avoid a forumselection clause must show that its enforcement would be unreasonable. See Dix, 160 Wn.2d at 834, 161 P.3d at 1020 (distilling and following Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co., 407 U.S. 1, 10 (1972) and Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc. v. Shute, 499 U.S. 585, 589-95 (1991)). That is the case only if the forum-selection clause "was induced by fraud or overreaching," if the contractually selected forum would be so unfair or inconvenient such that the plaintiff would be deprived of a remedy, or if enforcing the clause would contravene a strong public policy of the state in which the action was filed. Id. (quoting Gilman v. Wheat, First Sec., Inc., 345 Md. 361, 378, 692 A.2d 454, 463 (1997)); see also Oltman v. Holland Am. Line USA, Inc., 163 Wn.2d 236, 253, 178 P.3d 981, 991 (2008) (Dix provided a "typical synthesis" of Bremen and Carnival Cruise Lines).

The upshot is that the unenforceability challenge must be directed specifically at the forum-selection clause. In other words, to be unenforceable, application of the forum selection clause *itself* must violate public policy or the forum-selection clause *itself* must be induced by fraud or overreaching. *See Scherk v. Alberto-Culver Co.*, 417 U.S. 506, 519 n 14 (1974) (clarifying *Bremen*'s holding and explaining that a forum-selection clause is unenforceable only "if the inclusion of that clause in the contract was the product of fraud or coercion"; a general allegation that the transaction was fraudulent was insufficient).

Dix illustrates that point. In that case, this Court held that the forum-selection clause at issue was void for public policy reasons because the contractually chosen forum (Virginia) was procedurally incapable of hearing the plaintiffs' claims (the Dix plaintiffs were bringing small-value class claims, and Virginia did not allow class actions). Dix, 160 Wn.2d at 841, 161 P.3d at 1024. And so, in Dix,

there was something about the contractually designated forum—the inability to adjudicate class claims—that impaired the plaintiffs' ability to assert their claims and violated Washington public policy.

Another division of the Court of Appeals likewise recently recognized that a challenge to a forum-selection clause's enforceability must be aimed specifically at that clause. In *Culinary Ventures, Ltd v. Microsoft Corp.*, Division I explained that "a forum selection clause is not enforceable if 'the *inclusion of that clause in the contract* was the product of fraud or coercion." 26 Wn. App. 2d 396, 407, 527 P.3d 122, 129 (emphasis in original) (quoting *Lambert v. Kysar*, 983 F.2d 1110, 1121 (1st Cir. 1993)), *review denied*, 534 P.3d 791 (2023). But a more general allegation that the transaction was fraudulent, the panel highlighted, "was insufficient to apply the fraud exception to the enforceability of a forum selection clause." *Id.*

Courts across the country agree. The Delaware Supreme Court, for example, has held that a party cannot make "an end-run" around a valid forum-selection clause by way of "an argument about the enforceability of other terms in the contract." *Nat'l Indus. Grp.*

(Holding) v. Carlyle Inv. Mgmt. L.L.C., 67 A.3d 373, 380 (Del. 2013); see also Ex parte PT Sols. Holdings, LLC, 225 So. 3d 37, 43 (Ala. 2016). The Eleventh Circuit has said that a forum-selection clause is "a separate contract that is severable from the agreement in which it is contained." Rucker v. Oasis Legal Fin., L.L.C., 632 F.3d 1231, 1238 (11th Cir. 2011). And the D.C. Circuit has likewise reasoned that a forum-selection clause is "a distinct contract in and of itself—that is, an agreement between the parties to settle disputes in a particular forum—that is separate from the obligations the parties owe to each other under the remainder of the contract." Marra v. Papandreou, 216 F.3d 1119, 1123 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (emphasis added).

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