FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/22/2023 12:15 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102538-6 Court of Appeals, Division III No. 388425 Spokane Co. Superior Court Cause No. 21-2-03272-32

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EARNEST L. RAAB, D.C., et al.,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

VS.

NU SKIN ENTERPRISES. INC., et al.

Defendants-Petitioners.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Richard C. Eymann, WSBA #7470 Eymann Allison Jones P.S. 2208 W. Second Ave. Spokane, WA 99201-5417 (509) 747-0101 eymann@eahjlaw.com

George M. Ahrend, WSBA #25160
Luvera Law Firm
421 W. Riverside Avenue, Suite 1060
Spokane, WA 99201-0406
George@luveralawfirm.com

INTRODUCTION

A party cannot enforce an unconscionable contract, and the Court of Appeals decision below simply honors this wellestablished principle. "Unconscionability is a 'gateway dispute' that courts must resolve because a party cannot be required to fulfill a bargain that should be voided." Hill v. Garda CL Nw., Inc., 179 Wn.2d 47, 54, 308 P.3d 635 (2013). This principle applies to contracts containing forum-selection provisions to the same extent as any other contract. On discretionary review, the appellate panel below reversed in part and remanded for further proceedings to determine the enforceability and severability of a forum selection clause embedded within a contract that contains multiple dispute resolution provisions that this Court has previously held to be unconscionable and un-severable, including elimination of all damage remedies, shortening the applicable statute of limitations, preclusion of class actions, imposition of extreme confidentiality, among other one-sided and overly harsh provisions.

Rather than returning to the superior court for a final (and appealable) decision on the enforceability of the contract, Nu Skin tries to sidestep the Court of Appeals' thoroughly reasoned decision by arguing that the issues were not raised in the superior court in the first instance, but this is simply incorrect, as the Court of Appeals recognized. Plaintiffs-Respondents pled unconscionability the complaint, \mathbf{CP} 55, they argued unconscionability in response to Nu Skin's motion to dismiss based on allegedly improper venue, CP 231, they incorporated briefing on unconscionability from a related proceeding filed by Nu Skin in Utah federal court, CP 261-76, and they briefed the issue of unconscionability on appeal, Resp. Br. at 31-48. For its Nu Skin responded to these arguments part, about unconscionability in the superior court, CP 208-10, RP 14, and on appeal, Reply Br. at 6-11, 16-17, 20-21, 25-37. This Court should deny discretionary review, allow the record to be fully developed, and further allow the superior court to make a decision in the first instance regarding the enforceability of the contract containing the forum selection clause precisely because unconscionability is a "gateway dispute."

IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

Respondents are lower-level distributors for a multi-level marketing scheme promoted by Nu Skin. They were hired by Nu Skin as independent contractors to serve as distributors and derive income by enlisting other distributors and selling Nu Skin products.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Do the dispute resolution provisions incorporated into Nu Skin's Distributor Agreement and Policies and Procedures apply to Respondent's Complaint?
- 2. Are Nu Skin's dispute resolution provisions enforceable?
- 3. Is the forum selection clause contained in Nu Skin's dispute resolution provisions severable from the other provisions in which it is embedded?

RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondents filed suit against Nu Skin and ten of its higher-level distributors and recruiters in Spokane County Superior Court, based on the illegitimacy of Nu Skin's business

model, misrepresentations regarding the financial potential of distributorships, and conduct that unfairly advantaged higherlevel distributors at the expense of lower-level distributors. (Claims against the individual defendants are not part of this review.) The Complaint alleges that Nu Skin transacts business in Spokane County, and that the events giving rise to the claims occurred in substantial part in Spokane County. The Complaint asserts claims against Nu Skin for violation of Washington Consumer Protection Act (CPA), RCW Ch. 19.86; violation of Washington's Antipyramid Promotional Scheme Act, RCW Ch. 19.275; violation of the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et seq.; and common law claims for tortious interference with business expectancy, negligence, and negligent misrepresentation. These claims are asserted on behalf of all Respondents against Nu Skin. Four of the Respondents are residents of Washington and two reside in Spokane County. The remaining Respondents are from Utah, California, and Oklahoma.

When they were recruited as distributors, Respondents signed a 3-page "Distributor Agreement." CP 135-37. The Distributor Agreement incorporates certain "Policies and Procedures," which are made available on-line and must be consented to before they can be viewed. CP 136-37. Nu Skin reserves the right to modify the Policies and Procedures unilaterally on 30 days' notice. CP 54 (§ 1.1); CP 89. The dispute resolution provisions of the Distributor Agreement and Policies and Procedures include the following provisions

One-sided elimination of damage remedies against Nu Skin. Normally, the plaintiff can recover damages for injury to their business or property and treble damages under the CPA and the Antipyramid Promotional Scheme Act along with the full complement of tort damages for their common law claims. RCW 19.86.090. However, in its Policies and Procedures, Nu Skin purports to take away any damage remedy for its distributors, even if it is determined that Nu Skin wrongfully terminated their contract or otherwise acted improperly:

NEITHER ANY PARTICIPANT NOR THE COMPANY, NOR ANY OF THE COMPANY'S RELATED ENTITIES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, INVESTORS, OR VENDORS. EMPLOYEES, WILL HAVE ANY LIABILITY FOR ANY PUNITIVE, INCIDENTAL CONSEQUENTIAL, **SPECIAL** OR **INDIRECT** DAMAGES, INCLUDING LOSS OF FUTURE REVENUE OR LOSS INCOME, OR OF **BUSINESS** REPUTATION OR OPPORTUNITY RELATING TO THE BREACH OR ALLEGED BREACH OF THE CONTRACT OR FOR ANY OMISSION, OR OTHER CONDUCT ARISING OUT OF THE PARTICIPANT'S STATUS AS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AND BRAND AFFILIATE OF THE COMPANY'S PRODUCTS.

CP 52 (§ 6.8(b)). The limitation on Nu Skin's damage remedies is illusory because the Policies and Procedures already purport to give it the sole right and discretion to terminate a distributor's contract, suspend their rights under the contract, reduce payments, and take other adverse action before any dispute resolution process occurs. CP 49-50 (§§ 3.4-3.9).

One-sided reduction of limitations period. The statute of limitations for violations of the CPA and the Antipyramid Promotional Scheme Act is four years. RCW 19.86.120. The

Complaint is three years, subject to accrual based on the discovery rule and statutory and equitable tolling. RCW 4.16.080. The Policies and Procedures do not impose any time limit on actions by Nu Skin against a distributor. However, the Policies and Procedures purport to impose a two-year time limit on actions by a distributor against Nu Skin:

IN ORDER TO PREVENT STALE CLAIMS FROM DISRUPTING THE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF BRAND AFFILIATE ACCOUNTS AND THE COMPANY, THE COMPANY WILL NOT TAKE ACTION ON ANY ALLEGED VIOLATION OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT NOT SUBMITTED IN WRITING TO THE COMPANY'S [COMPLIANCE REVIEW COMMITTEE]. WITHIN TWO YEARS OF THE FIRST OCCURRENCE OF THE ALLEGED VIOLATION. ALLEGED VIOLATIONS WILL BE REFERRED TO AS "DISPUTES," WHICH ARE FURTHER DEFINED IN THE GLOSSARY OF DEFINED TERMS IN ADDENDUM A.

CP 49 (§ 3.2). While this provision appears to be limited to contract claims, the definition of "Disputes" incorporated into the provision includes "ANY AND ALL PAST, PRESENT, OR

FUTURE CLAIMS, DISPUTES, CAUSES OF ACTION OR COMPLAINTS, WHETHER BASED IN CONTRACT, TORT, STATUTE, LAW, PRODUCT LIABILITY, EQUITY, OR ANY OTHER CAUSE OF ACTION ... BETWEEN YOU AND THE COMPANY." CP 36 & 51.

Elimination of class actions. Class relief was requested in the Complaint, CP 62 (¶ 6.53); and class relief is available for the claims alleged in the Complaint, CR 23. However, the Nu Skin Policies and Procedures purport to eliminate class relief: "No Dispute will be adjudicated, in arbitration or any other judicial proceeding, as a class action." CP 52 (§ 6.5).

One-sided Confidentiality. Normally, judicial proceedings are open to the public. Wash. Const. Art. I, § 10. However, the Policies and Procedures purport to impose confidentiality except to the extent Nu Skin may use the result of proceedings as precedent or Nu Skin otherwise consents:

All arbitration proceedings will be closed to the public and confidential. Except as may be required by law and the Company's use of an arbitration award as precedence for

deciding future Disputes, neither a Participant nor the arbitrator may disclose the existence, content, or results of any arbitration without the prior written consent of all the Participants.

CP 52 (§ 6.9); see also CP 52 (§ 6.6, limiting those who may attend).

One-sided choice of arbitrator. Normally, the choice of an arbitrator or arbitrators is a matter of agreement between the parties. RCW 7.04A.110(1). If the parties cannot agree, they can petition the court to appoint an arbitrator. *Id.* However, the Nu Skin Policies and Procedures require a distributor to choose from "a list of potential arbitrators" provided by Nu Skin. CP 51 (§ 5).

One-sided severability clause. Normally, the CPA and Antipyramid Promotional Scheme Act have extraterritorial reach and effect. Thornell v. Seattle Service Bureau, 184 Wn.2d 793, 803-04, 363 P.3d 587 (2015) (holding out-of-state plaintiff may bring CPA claim against out-of-state defendant for the acts of its in-state agent); State v. Reader's Digest Ass'n, 81 Wn.2d 259, 501 P.2d 290 (1972) (holding Washington plaintiff has CPA

claim against out-of-state defendant). However, the Nu Skin Policies and Procedures purport to limit the extraterritorial effect of any proceeding:

Any provision of the Contract that is prohibited, judicially invalidated, or otherwise rendered unenforceable in any jurisdiction is ineffective only to the extent of the prohibition, invalidation, or unenforceability in that jurisdiction, and only within that jurisdiction. Any prohibited judicially invalidated or unenforceable provision of the contract will not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision of the Contract, nor will that provision of the Contract be invalidated or rendered unenforceable in any other jurisdiction.

CP 54 (§ 1.4, emphasis added).

Embedded within the foregoing dispute-resolution provisions are clauses requiring all disputes to be resolved by arbitration in Salt Lake City, Utah, under Utah law, without regard for the location where the dispute arise, the burden or expense of a Utah forum, or the remedies available under Utah law. CP 45, 51 & 54. These provisions were all imposed by Nu Skin without any opportunity or ability to negotiate different provisions.

In the Complaint, Respondents alleged that these dispute resolution provisions were part of a "classic contract of adhesion," "facially unconscionable," "void," and "unenforceable." CP 53-55. Nonetheless, on the basis of these dispute resolution provisions, Nu Skin initially filed a petition in the Utah federal court to compel arbitration in the State of Utah. Next, Nu Skin filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint pursuant to CR 12(b)(3) on grounds of improper venue, alternatively asking the superior court to stay proceedings pending a decision by the Utah federal court.

In opposing Nu Skin's motion to dismiss, Respondents argued that their Complaint did not present a "dispute" subject to arbitration in Utah under the contract. They also argued that a Utah forum would contravene strong Washington public policy reflected in the CPA and Antipyramid Promotional Scheme Act. Lastly, they argued that the contract provisions on which Nu Skin relied were unconscionable. CP 231. Respondents incorporated briefing regarding the issue of unconscionability that was

submitted to the Utah federal court because there was "a substantial amount of overlap" between Nu Skin's motion to dismiss the Complaint and the Utah federal proceeding. CP 231, 267-75. Nu Skin did not disagree, but rather offered to make its own pleadings submitted to the Utah federal court available to the superior court. RP 14.

The superior court denied Nu Skin's motion to dismiss on grounds that the Complaint did not present a "dispute" subject to arbitration in Utah under the terms of the Distributor Agreement and Policies and Procedures. CP 345. Nu Skin sought discretionary review. While the motion for discretionary review was pending, the Utah federal court denied Nu Skin's petition to compel arbitration based on the preclusive effect of the superior court's order. *Nu Skin Enters., Inc. v. Raab*, 2022 WL 2118223 (D. Utah June 13, 2022).

On discretionary review, the Court of Appeals held that venue was proper in Spokane County, and that the issue of arbitrability was properly decided by the court rather than the arbitrator or the Utah federal court. The court disagreed with the superior court's ruling that the Complaint did not present a dispute within the meaning of the Nu Skin Distributor Agreement and Policies and Procedures. However, because the superior court had based its decision on these grounds, the appellate court remanded for a determination under Washington law whether the dispute resolution provisions of Nu Skin's Distributor Agreement and Policies and Procedures were enforceable.

From this decision of the Court of Appeals, Nu Skin seeks further review by this Court.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. This Court should deny Nu Skin's petition for review because the superior court should decide in the first instance whether the dispute resolution provisions of its Distributor Agreement and Policies and Procedures are enforceable, and whether the forum-selection clause embedded in those provisions is severable.

Nu Skin gives lip service to the criteria for review in RAP 13.4, but then proceeds to ignore them and instead re-argue the issues decided by the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals decision involves application of settled law to the facts of the

case and affects only the parties to this dispute. Because the superior court based its decision on the *applicability* of Nu Skin's dispute resolution provisions rather than the enforceability of those provisions, the Court of Appeals properly exercised its discretion to remand the case to the superior court to decide issues of enforceability in the first instance. RAP 12.2 ("The appellate court may reverse, affirm, or modify the decision being reviewed and take any other action as the merits of the case and the interest of justice may require"; emphasis added); Hay v. Chehalis Mill Co., 172 Wash. 102, 110, 19 P.2d 397 (1933) (remanding to trial court to consider material issue where it appeared the trial court did not consider the issue at all and instead rested its judgment on an erroneous legal ground, observing, "We do not think that we are called upon, or that it is proper for us, to pass upon that issue without first giving the trial court an opportunity of doing so"); In re Estate of Gillespie, 12 Wn. App. 2d 154, 176, 456 P.3d 1210, rev. denied, 196 Wn.2d 1009 (2020) (remanding to give trial court opportunity to decide issue in the first instance). Remand will not be futile because there is already substantial evidence that Nu Skin's dispute resolution provisions, including the forum selection clause contained therein, are neither enforceable nor severable.

1. Nu Skin's dispute resolution provisions are substantively unconscionable.

"[E]ither substantive *or* procedural unconscionability is sufficient to void a contract." *Gandee v. LDL Freedom Enters.*, 176 Wn.2d 598, 603, 293 P.3d 1197 (2013) (emphasis in original). A term is substantively unconscionable where it is "one-sided or overly harsh." *Id.*, 176 Wn.2d at 603. In this case, many of Nu Skin's dispute resolution provisions have already been determined by this Court to be substantively unconscionable. Specifically:

• Elimination of damage remedies is substantively unconscionable because it effectively exculpates a party like Nu Skin for violations of the CPA. *Hill*, 179 Wn.2d at 55-56 (limitation on employees' ability to recover back pay held unconscionable); *Zuver v. Airtouch Comme'ns*, 153 Wn.2d 293, 103 P.3d 753 (2004) (limitation of punitive damages held unconscionable).

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